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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NEXGEL, INC
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021 AND DECEMBER 31, 2020
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

    June 30,     
2021 December 31, 

(Unaudited) 2020
ASSETS:       
Current Assets:       

Cash $ 382 $ 32
Accounts receivable, net  219  73
Inventory  226  233
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  82  25

Total current assets  909  363
Goodwill  311  311
Intangibles 40 47
Property and equipment, net 771 553
Operating lease - right of use asset  2,019  805
Other assets  60  178

Total assets $ 4,110 $ 2,257

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   
Current Liabilities:   

Accounts payable $ 592 $ 657
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 70 90
Deferred Revenue — 38
Convertible notes payable 511 59
Current portion of debt  18  10
Note payable – PPP 127 147
Warrant liability 245 123
Operating lease liability, current portion 207 207

Total current liabilities  1,770  1,331
Long-Term Liabilities:

Notes payable 253 256
Lease liability, long term  1,818  598

Total long-term liabilities  2,071  854
Total liabilities 3,841  2,185

Commitments and Contingencies   

Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding  —  —
Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share, 750,000,000 shares authorized; 104,277,112 and 99,331,279 shares issued and

outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively  104  99
Additional paid-in capital  4,197  2,474
Accumulated deficit  (4,032)  (2,502)
Total stockholders' equity  269  71
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 4,110 $ 2,256

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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NEXGEL, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED June 30, 2021 AND 2020
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, 

    2021     2020     2021     2020
Revenues, net $ 417 $ 91 $ 683 $ 331

Cost of revenues  413  176  722  349

Gross (loss)/profit  4  (85)  (39)  (18)

Operating expenses     
Selling, general and administrative  557  455  1,034  1,031
Total operating expenses  557  455  1,034  1,031

Loss from operations  (553) (540) (1,073) (1,049)

Other income (expense)  
Interest expense  (370) — (518) (1)
Loss on debt extinguishment — — (25) —
Debt discount costs (52) — (68) —
Forgiveness of debt 147 — 147 —
Other income — 8 — 8
Changes in fair value of warrant liability  2 2 8 4
Total other income (expense)  (273) 10 (456) 11
Loss before income taxes (826) (530) (1,529) (1,038)
Income tax expense — — — —
Net loss $ (826) $ (530) (1,529) (1,038)
Net loss per common share - basic $ (0.01) $ (0.01) (0.01) (0.01)
Net loss per common share - diluted $ (0.01) $ (0.01) (0.01) (0.01)
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per common share -

basic 102,894,279 76,338,541 102,156,565 70,445,816
Weighted average shares used in computing net loss per common share –

diluted 102,894,279 76,338,541 102,156,565 70,445,816

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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NEXGEL, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020
(Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share data)

Retained
Additional Earnings Total

Common Stock  Paid-in (Accumulated Stockholders'
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit)     Equity (Deficit)

Balance, January 1, 2021 99,331,779 $ 99 $ 2,474 $ (2,502) $ 71

Stock-based compensation — — 69 — 69

Restricted stock vesting  —  —  21  —  21

Issuances of common stock, net of issuance costs  3,563,000  4  281  —  285

Warrants issued for debt issuance — — (18) — (18)

Beneficial conversion and warrant features of convertible debt — — 1,276 — 1,276

Net loss — — — (704) (704)

Balance, March 31, 2021  102,894,779 $ 103 $ 4,103 $ (3,206) $ 1,000

Stock-based compensation — — 74 — 74

Restricted stock vesting 1,383,333 1 20 — 21

Net loss — — — (826) (826)

Balance, June 30, 2021 104,277,112 $ 104 $ 4,197 $ (4,032) $ 269
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Retained
    Additional Earnings Total

Common Stock  Paid-in (Accumulated Stockholders'
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit)     Equity (Deficit)

Balance, January 1, 2020 57,505,208 $ 57 $ 561 $ (238) $ 380

Stock compensation — — 64 — 64

Issuance of common stock  15,500,000  16  604  —  620

Net loss — — — (508) (508)

Balance, March 31, 2020  73,005,208 $ 73 $ 1,229 $ (746) $ 556

Stock compensation — — 40 — 40

Issuance of common stock for acquisition 9,375,000 9 366 — 375

Net loss — — — (530) (530)

Balance, June 30, 2020 82,380,208 $ 82 $ 1,635 $ (1,276) $ 441

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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NEXGEL, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 AND 2020
(Unaudited)

(in thousands)

Six Months Ended June 30, 
    2021     2020

Operating Activities
Net loss $ (1,529) $ (1,038)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   

Depreciation and amortization  56  21
Share-based compensation 185 104

Changes in fair value of warrant liability (8) (4)
Amortization of deferred financing costs 528 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt 24 —
Forgiveness of debt (148) —
Beneficial conversion feature in excess of face value 51 —
Change in ROU asset and operating lease liability 6 —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
Accounts receivable  (146)  5
Inventory  7  (34)
Prepaid expenses and other assets  61  19
Accounts payable  (67)  (106)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities  (15)  53
Deferred revenue (38) —

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities  (1,033)  (980)

Investing Activities     
Capital expenditures (267) (76)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (267)  (76)

Financing Activities   
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 285 620
Proceeds from notes payable 15 408
Principle payment of notes payable (15) —
Proceeds from notes payable (PPP) 128 —
Proceeds from convertible notes 1,337 —
Principal payment on convertible notes  (100)  —

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  1,650  1,028
Net Increase in Cash  350  (28)
Cash – Beginning of period  32  261

Cash – End of period $ 382 $ 233
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information   
Cash paid during the year for:   

Interest  —  —
Taxes — —

Supplemental Non-cash Investing and Financing activities
Fair value of beneficial conversion and warrant features of Convertible Notes Payable $ 1,276 $ —
Original issue discounts recognized on Convertible Notes Payable $ 343 $ —
Warrants issued for debt and equity financing costs $ 130 $ —
Common shares issued for acquisition $ — $ 375
Inventory acquired from acquisition $ — $ 21
Accounts payable acquired from acquisition $ — $ 13

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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NEXGEL, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

1.     Description of Business, the Spin-off and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

NexGel, Inc. (the “Company” or “NexGel”) manufactures high water content, electron beam cross-linked, aqueous polymer hydrogels, or gels, used for
wound care, medical diagnostics, transdermal drug delivery and cosmetics. The Company specializes in custom gels by capitalizing on proprietary
manufacturing technologies. The Company has historically served as a contract manufacturer supplying its gels to third parties who incorporate them into
their own products.  NexGel was previously known as AquaMed Technologies, Inc. (“AquaMed”) before changing its name to NexGel, Inc. on November
14, 2019.  The Company is implementing a new strategy to become a consumer products business focused on proprietary branded products and white label
opportunities.

The Spin-Off

On June 21, 2019, NexGel became an independent company through the pro rata distribution (“Spin-Off”) by Adynxx, Inc. (“Adynxx” and the “Parent”) in
connection with the closing of a reverse merger between Adynxx, Inc. and Alliqua BioMedical, Inc., (“Adynxx”) of NexGel’s common stock for common
stock of Parent.  Adynxx, Inc. was previously known as Alliqua BioMedical, Inc. and subsequently changed its name to Adynxx, Inc. on May 3, 2019.  The
terms and conditions of the Spin-Off provided that each record holder of Parent stock as of April 22, 2019, received one share of NexGel common stock in
book-entry form and resulted in the distribution of 5,005,211 shares of common stock of NexGel. Following the distribution (“Capitalization”), all existing
operations were distributed to NexGel with the exception of a corporate lease for property in Yardley, Pennsylvania which was retained by Adynxx, Inc.

Pursuant to the Spin-Off and in exchange for the 5,005,211 shares of common stock,NexGel assumed the following net assets and liabilities from Parent as
of June 21, 2019 ($ in thousands):

Assets:     
Cash $ 186
Accounts receivable, net  72
Inventory, net  140
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  101
Property and equipment, net  155
Operating lease - right of use asset  976
Other assets  178

Total assets  1,808

Liabilities:
Accounts payable  (496)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  (395)
Operating lease liability - current  (207)
Long-term operating lease liability  (769)

Total liabilities  (1,867)

Net liabilities assumed in Spin-Off on June 21, 2019 $ (59)

Basis of Presentation

The balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 and the statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 consists of the balances of NexGel as prepared on a stand-alone basis. Prior to the separation, these financial statements were derived
from the consolidated financial statements and accounting records of Adynxx, Inc.
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Prior to the Spin-Off, Adynxx used a centralized approach to cash management and financing its operations, including the operations of the Company.
Accordingly, none of the cash of Adynxx have been attributed to the Company in the financial statements. Transactions between Adynxx and the Company
were accounted for through Parent’s Net Investment.

The expenses, including executive compensation, have been allocated by management based either on specific attribution of those expenses or, where
necessary and appropriate, based on management’s best estimate of an appropriate proportional allocation.

These interim condensed financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"), which permit reduced disclosure for interim periods. The condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 was derived from audited
financial statements for the fiscal year then ended, but does not include all necessary disclosures required by generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America ("GAAP") with respect to annual financial statements. In the opinion of management, the condensed financial statements include
all adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2021 and results of
operations and cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. These unaudited condensed financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto in the Company’s year-end financial statements for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, which are included in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with SEC on June 30, 2021. Results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative
of the results to be expected for a full fiscal year or for any future period.

Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of the condensed financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the condensed financial statements and accompanying notes.  These estimates and assumptions include allowance for doubtful
accounts, inventory reserves, deferred taxes, share-based compensation and related valuation allowances and fair value of long-lived assets. Actual results
could differ from the estimates.

Accounts receivable, net

Trade accounts receivable are stated at the amount the Company expects to collect and do not bear interest. The Company evaluates the collectability of
accounts receivable and records a provision to the allowance for doubtful accounts based on factors including the length of time the receivables are past due,
the current business environment and the Company’s historical experience.  Provisions to the allowances for doubtful accounts are recorded in selling,
general and administrative expenses.  Account balances are charged off against the allowance when it is probable that the receivable will not be recovered.
The allowance for doubtful accounts was $4 thousand as of June 30, 2021 and $1 thousand as of December 31, 2020.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost, the value determined by the first-in, first-out method, or net realizable value. The Company evaluates inventories
for excess quantities, obsolescence or shelf-life expiration. This evaluation includes an analysis of historical sales levels by product, projections of future
demand, the risk of technological or competitive obsolescence for products, general market conditions, and a review of the shelf-life expiration dates for
products. These factors determine when, and if, the Company adjusts the carrying value of inventory to estimated net realizable value.

The balance is made up of raw materials of $189 thousand and $190 thousand, work-in-progress of $23 thousand and $22 thousand, and finished goods of
$14 thousand and $21 thousand on June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment is recorded at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided over the assets’ useful
lives on a straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or lease terms.
 Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Management periodically assesses the estimated useful life over which assets are depreciated or amortized. If the analysis warrants a change in the
estimated useful life of property and equipment, management will reduce the estimated useful life and depreciate or amortize the carrying value
prospectively over the shorter remaining useful life.
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The carrying amounts of assets sold or retired and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated in the period of disposal and the resulting gains and
losses are included in the results of operations during the same period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In applying the acquisition method of accounting, amounts assigned to identifiable assets and liabilities acquired were based on estimated fair values as of
the date of acquisition, with the remainder recorded as goodwill. Identifiable intangible assets are initially valued at fair value using generally accepted
valuation methods appropriate for the type of intangible asset. Identifiable intangible assets with definite lives are amortized over their estimated useful
lives and are reviewed for impairment if indicators of impairment arise. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for impairment within one year of
acquisitions or annually as of December 1, and whenever indicators of impairment exist. The fair value of intangible assets is compared with their carrying
values, and an impairment loss would be recognized for the amount by which a carrying amount exceeds its fair value.

Acquired identifiable intangible assets are amortized over the following periods:

Expected Life
Acquired intangible Asset     Amortization Basis     (years)
Technology-Related  Straight-line basis  3
Marketing-Related  Straight-line basis  4

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review the recoverability of our long-lived assets, including equipment and right-of-use assets, when events or changes in circumstances occur that
indicate that the carrying value of the asset, or asset group, may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that might cause management to perform
impairment testing include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results of the asset or
asset group, significant changes in the manner or use of assets or the strategy for our overall business; and significant negative industry or economic trends.
If indicators of potential impairment are present, management performs a recoverability test and, if necessary, records an impairment loss. If the total
estimated future undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the use and ultimate disposition of an asset or asset group is less than its carrying value, an
impairment loss is recorded in the Company’s results of operations, measured as the amount required to reduce the carrying value to fair value. Fair value is
determined in accordance with the best available information per the hierarchy described under Fair Value Measurements below. For example, the
Company would first seek to identify quoted prices or other observable market data. If observable data is not available, Management would apply the best
available information under the circumstances to a technique such as a discounted cash flow model to estimate fair value. Impairment analysis involves
estimates and the use of assumptions due to the inherently judgmental nature of forecasting long-term estimated inflows and outflows resulting from the
use and ultimate disposition of an asset, and determining the ultimate useful lives of assets. Actual results may differ from these estimates using different
assumptions, which could materially impact the results of an impairment assessment.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets is recorded at historical cost and is primarily made up of $26 thousand and $16 thousand of prepaid insurance,
and $56 thousand and $9 thousand general prepaid expenses and other current assets in the period ended June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020,
respectively.

Other Assets

Other Assets is recorded at historical costs, and as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the balance is entirely made up of spare parts for
manufacturing equipment. Other assets are stated at cost and are not subject to depreciation, until such time that they are placed into service and the part
that is being replaced is disposed.
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Fair value measurements

The Company utilizes the fair value hierarchy to apply fair value measurements. The fair value hierarchy is based on inputs to valuation techniques that are
used to measure fair values that are either observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an
asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect a reporting entity’s pricing based upon its own
market assumptions. The basis for fair value measurements for each level within the hierarchy is described below:

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not
active; or model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable.

Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs to the valuation model are unobservable.

The Company considers the carrying amounts of its financial instruments (cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable) in the balance sheet to
approximate fair value because of the short-term or highly liquid nature of these financial instruments.

Warrant Liability

Warrants to purchase common stock were issued in connection with equity financing raises, which occurred on March 11, 2021, February 3, 2021,
December 24, 2020, March 18, 2020, September 10, 2019 and November 6, 2019. The fair values of the warrants are estimated as of the date of issuance
and again at each period end using a Black-Scholes option valuation model. At issuance, the fair value of the warrant is recognized as an equity issuance
cost within additional paid-in-capital. Fair value adjustments to the warrant liability are recognized in other income (expense) in the statements of
operations.

Revenue recognition

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”).
The core principle of ASC 606 requires that an entity recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASC 606 defines a five-step process to
achieve this core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than
required under existing accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) including identifying performance
obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to each
separate performance obligation. The Company adopted ASC 606 for all applicable contracts using the modified retrospective method, which would have
required a cumulative-effect adjustment, if any, as of the date of adoption. The adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements as of the date of adoption. As a result, a cumulative-effect adjustment was not required.

The Company recognizes revenue predominately from three types of revenue, contract manufacturing, custom and white label manufacturing and
proprietary branded products. Revenue from contract manufacturing is recognized at the point where the customer obtains control of the goods and the
Company satisfies its performance obligation, which generally is at the time it ships the product to the customer.

The Company’s customers consist of other life sciences companies and revenues are concentrated in the United States. Payment terms vary by the type and
location of customer and may differ by jurisdiction and customer but payment is generally required in a term ranging from 30 to 60 days from date of
shipment.

Estimates for product returns, allowances and discounts are recorded as a reduction of revenue and are established at the time of sale. Returns are estimated
through a comparison of historical return data and are determined for each product and adjusted for known or expected changes in the marketplace specific
to each product, when appropriate. Historically, sales return provisions have not been material. Amounts accrued for sales allowances and discounts are
based on estimates of amounts that are expected to be claimed on the related sales and are based on historical data. Payments for allowances and discounts
have historically been immaterial.



Table of Contents

12

Disaggregated revenue by sales type:

    Six Months Ended
June 30,

    2021     2020
Contract manufacturing $ 379 $ 331
Custom and white label finished goods manufacturing  194  —
Nexgel branded consumer products  110  —

Total $ 683 $ 331

As of June 30, 2021, the Company did not have any contract assets or contract liabilities from contracts with customers. As of June 30, 2021, there were no
remaining performance obligations that the Company had not satisfied.

Share-based compensation

On August 28, 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”). The 2019 Plan provides for the granting of incentive
stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock units, performance awards, dividend
equivalent rights and other awards, which may be granted singly, in combination, or in tandem, and which may be paid in cash, shares of common stock of
the Company or a combination of cash and shares of common stock of the Company. The Company initial reserved a total of 2,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for awards under the 2019 Plan.

Effective as of May 26, 2020 and May 3, 2021, respectively, the Board approved an increase of the number of authorized shares of common stock reserved
under the 2019 Plan from 2,000,000 shares of common stock to 17,000,000 shares of common stock and from 17,000,000 shares of common stock to
20,000,000 shares of common stock, all of which may be delivered pursuant to incentive stock options. Subject to adjustments pursuant to the 2019 Plan,
the maximum number of shares of common stock with respect to which stock options or SARs may be granted to an executive officer during any calendar
year is 500,000 shares of common stock.

The Company’s 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides certain employees, contractors and outside directors with share-based compensation in the form
of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, dividend
equivalent rights and other awards. The fair values of incentive stock option award grants are estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option
valuation model. Compensation expense is recognized in the statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is
generally the vesting period required to obtain full vesting. Forfeitures are accounted for when they occur.

In June 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2018-07, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) - Improvements to
Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting. These amendments expand the scope of Topic 718, Compensation - Stock Compensation, to include
share-based payments issued to nonemployees for goods or services. Consequently, the accounting for share-based payments to nonemployees and
employees will be substantially aligned.  This new standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2020.  The Company early adopted this new
standard in the third quarter of 2019 and it did not have material impact to its condensed financial statements.

Income taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future
tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the applicable tax rates.  Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates.
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Tax benefits are recognized from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by a tax
authority and based upon the technical merits of the tax position. The tax benefit recognized in the financial statements for a particular tax position is based
on the largest benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon settlement. An unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion thereof, is presented in the
financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward if such
settlement is required or expected in the event the uncertain tax position is disallowed.

Segment reporting

The Company operates in one business segment as a contract manufacturer of aqueous polymer hydrogels. As a result, the Company’s operations are a
single reportable segment, which is consistent with the Company’s internal management reporting.

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and changes in equity during a period from transactions and other equity and circumstances generated from non-
owner sources. The Company’s net loss equals comprehensive loss for all periods presented,

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts
in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)  which simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments. The guidance removes certain accounting models
which separate the embedded conversion features from the host contract for convertible instruments. Either a modified retrospective method of transition or
a fully retrospective method of transition is permissible for the adoption of this standard. Update No. 2020-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted no earlier than the fiscal year beginning after December
15, 2020. The Company does not expect this ASU to have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations, cash flows and financial position.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, or other standard setting bodies and
adopted by us as of the specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a
material impact on our financial position or results of operations upon adoption.

Fair Value Measurement—Disclosure Framework

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement  (“ASU 2018-13”), which amends ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements. ASU 2018-13 modifies the
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing, modifying, or adding certain disclosures. The effective date is the first quarter of fiscal
year 2021, with early adoption permitted for the removed disclosures and delayed adoption permitted until fiscal year 2021 for the new disclosures. The
removed and modified disclosures will be adopted on a retrospective basis and the new disclosures will be adopted on a prospective basis. The Company
has not yet adopted ASU 2018-13 and currently assessing the impact of this new standard on its financial statements.

2.     Going Concern

As of June 30, 2021, the Company had a cash balance of $382,000. For the six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company incurred a net loss of $1,529,000
and had a net usage of cash in operating activities of $1.03 million. In addition, the Company had a working capital deficit of $860,000 as of June 30, 2021.
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The Company expects to continue incurring losses for the foreseeable future and will need to raise additional capital to support ongoing operations. The
ability of the Company to continue to operate as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to raise additional capital and to ultimately achieve profitable
operations. Management is evaluating various options to raise capital to fund the Company’s working capital requirements through equity offerings. There
can be no assurances, however, that management will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds when needed, or that such funds, if available, will be
obtained on terms satisfactory to the Company. These factors raise substantial doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
condensed financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets and liabilities that might
be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

3.     Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic loss per share data is computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share
data is computed using the weighted-average number of common and dilutive common-equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive common-
equivalent shares consist of shares that would be issued upon the exercise of stock options and other common stock equivalents, computed using the
treasury stock method. The number of shares that may be issued for share-based payment awards under the Company’s 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan are
excluded from the calculation of weighted average dilutive common shares for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, to the extent they are
issued and outstanding, because their effect would be anti-dilutive.

4.     Acquisition

On May 29, 2020, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") whereby the Company purchased all
of the outstanding equity securities of Sport Defense LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Sports Defense"), from the members of Sport Defense
(the "Sellers"). Subsequent to the Closing Date, Sport Defense is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Sport Defense is a marketing and distribution company that leverages the unique benefits of ultra-gentle, high-water content hydrogels, manufactured by
the Company, to build brands that treat various ailments of the skin caused by athletic training, such as blisters, turf burns, scrapes and skin irritations.

Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the purchase price paid to the Sellers was an aggregate of $375 thousand (the "Purchase Price") which was
paid by the Company through the issuance of an aggregate of 9,375,000 shares of the Company's common stock, par value $0.001 (the "Shares"), which
equates to a per share purchase price of $0.04. The Shares are "restricted securities" as such term is defined by Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended.

Adam Levy, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and Nachum Stein, a member of the Company's Board of Directors (the
"Board"), were each members of Sport Defense and part of the Sellers. Mr. Levy received 1,546,875 of the Shares and Mr. Stein received 3,187,500 of the
Shares. Due to the potential conflict of interest that existed because of Messrs. Levy and Stein's partial ownership of Sport Defense, the Board obtained an
independent investment bank to prepare a valuation report with respect to Sport Defense. This valuation report supported the Purchase Price. Also, Mr.
Stein recused himself from the vote of the Board regarding the approval to purchase Sport Defense.

The Purchase Agreement and the Sport Defense acquisition were not subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company. The Purchase Agreement
contained minimal representations and warranties regarding Sport Defense and certain limited representations and warranties regarding the Company and
the Sellers.

The provisional fair value of the purchase consideration issued to the Seller was allocated to the net tangible assets acquired. The Company accounted for
the Sports Defense acquisition as the purchase of a business under GAAP under the acquisition method of accounting, and the assets and liabilities acquired
were recorded as of the acquisition date, at their respective fair values and consolidated with those of the Company. The fair value of the net assets acquired
was approximately $375 thousand. The excess of the aggregate fair value of the net tangible assets has been allocated to goodwill.
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The Company is currently in the process of completing the preliminary purchase price allocation as an acquisition of certain assets. The final purchase price
allocation for Sports Defense's will be included in the Company's financial statements in future periods. The table below shows preliminary analysis for the
Sports Defense acquisition:

Provisional Purchase Consideration at preliminary fair value:       
Purchase price $ 375

Amount of consideration $ 375

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at preliminary fair value    
Inventories  21
Product/Technology related intangibles 31
Marketing related intangibles 8
Customer related intangibles 17
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  (13)
Other liabilities  —

Net tangible assets acquired $ 64

Total net assets acquired $ 64
Consideration paid  375
Preliminary goodwill $ 311

The unaudited pro-forma results of operations are presented for information purposes only. The unaudited pro-forma results of operations are not intended
to present actual results that would have been attained had the Sports Defense acquisition been completed as of January 1, 2019 or to project potential
operating results as of any future date or for any future periods.

    For the Six Months Ended
June 30,

    2021     2020
Revenues, net $ 683 $ 348
Net loss allocable to common shareholders $ (1,529) $ (1,029)
Net loss per share $ (0.01) $ (0.01)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding  102,156,565  78,258,316

5.     Leases

The Company has one operating lease for a commercial manufacturing facility and administrative offices located in Langhorne, Pennsylvania that expired
in January 2026. On April 14, 2021, the Company extended the term of the lease for an additional five years commencing on February 1, 2026 and
continuing through January 31, 2031.

The right-of-use asset and lease liability from this operating lease were recognized in the opening balance sheet as of January 1, 2019 and are based on the
present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate.
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The following table presents information about the amount and timing of the liability arising from the Company’s operating lease as of June 30, 2021 ($ in
thousands):

Operating
Lease

Maturity of Lease Liability Liability
2021 (remainder of year)     $ 104
2022  207
2023  207
2024 207
2025  207
Thereafter 1,428
Total undiscounted operating lease payments $ 2,360
Less: Imputed interest  (335)
Present value of operating lease liability $ 2,025

Weighted average remaining lease term 9.6 years
Weighted average discount rate 3.0 %

Total operating lease expense for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $103 thousand and $6 thousand related to the lease extension, and is
recorded in cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses on the statement of operations under Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 840, Leases.

Supplemental cash flows information related to leases was as follows ($ in thousands):

June 30, 
    2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liability:
Operating cash flows from operating lease $ 109
Change in right-of-use asset/liability due to lease amendments $ 1,275

6.    Inventory

Inventory consists of the following ($ in thousands):

    June 30,     December 31, 
2021 2020

Raw materials $ 189 $ 190
Work-in-progress 23 22
Finished goods 14 21

226 233
Less: Inventory reserve for excess and slow moving inventory  —  —

Total $ 226 $ 233

As a contract manufacturer, the Company builds its products based on customer orders and immediately ships the products upon completion of the
production process.
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7.    Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consist of the following ($ in thousands):

    Useful Life     June 30,     December 31, 
(Years) 2021 2020

Machinery and equipment 3 - 10 $ 940 $ 2,894
Office furniture and equipment  3 - 10  49  49
Leasehold improvements  6  228  228
Construction in progress N/A — 461

  1,217  3,632
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (446) (3,079)
Property and equipment, net     $ 771  $ 553

Depreciation and amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $49 thousand and $21 thousand, respectively.

8.    Intangible Assets

The following provides a breakdown of identifiable intangible assets as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020:

    June 30,     December 31,    
2021 2020

Product/Technology Related    
Identifiable intangible assets, gross $ 31 $ 31
Accumulated amortization  (11) (6)

Product/Technology Related identifiable intangible assets, net  20 25
Marketing Related    

Customer related intangible asset, gross 17 17
Tradename related intangible asset, gross  7 7
Accumulated amortization  (4) (2)

Marketing related identifiable intangible assets, net  20 22
Total Identifiable intangible assets, net $ 40 $ 47

In connection with the acquisitions of Sports Defense, the Company identified intangible assets of $55 thousand representing technology related and
customer related intangibles. These assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their weighted average estimated useful life of 4.7 years and
amortization expense amounted to $7 thousand for the six months ended June 30, 2021.

As of June 30, 2021, the estimated annual amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years is as follows:

2021 (remainder of year)     $ 7
2022  14
2023  8
2024  3
2025  2
Thereafter 6
Total $ 40
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9.    Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following ($ in thousands):

    June 30,     December 31, 
2021 2020

Salaries, benefits and incentive compensation $ 47 $ 43
Other  23  47
Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 70 $ 90

10.    Common Stock

Share issuances

On September 10, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement to issue and sell shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001
per share, in a private placement offering to accredited investors for an aggregate of up to $175 on the initial closing date, and an aggregate of up to $575 of
shares of common stock on a subsequent closing date at a price per share equal to $0.053525. On September 10, 2019, certain accredited investors
purchased 3,269,500 shares of the Company’s common stock that resulted in cash proceeds of $175 thousand.  For their commitment to invest the $175
thousand, the two shareholders who invested in the September 10, 2019 private placement each became a member of the Company’s Board of Directors
and gained control of the Company. Their investments carried full ratchet protection on the purchase price per share of $0.053525 because the actual price
of the shares in the September 10, 2019 private placement was undetermined at that time. The final price per share of the September 10, 2019 private
placement, which was governed by a term sheet dated August 27, 2019, was ultimately determined to be $0.014. On November 6, 2019 and pursuant to the
Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company issued an additional 39,999,998 shares of its common stock, par value $0.001 per share, in a private placement
offering to accredited investors valued at $0.014 per share and raised $560 thousand. Proceeds from this offering are expected to be used for working
capital and general business operations.  Upon the completion of the secondary offering on November 6, 2019 that provided for the settlement of the ratchet
protection, there was a reclassification from Additional paid-in capital to Common stock for the par value of the 9,230,500 additional shares that were
issued to the two shareholders who invested in the September 10, 2019 private placement. Issuance costs related to the September 10, 2019 and November
6, 2019 private placements totaled $5 dollars in legal fees and $56 thousand related to warrants issued as an equity issuance cost. See Note 15- Warrant
Liability.

From January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2021, the Company entered into Securities Purchase Agreements with certain accredited investors whereby we
sold 3,563,000 shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to $0.08 for an aggregate purchase price of $285,000.

From February 6, 2020 through March 20, 2020, the Company entered into Securities Purchase Agreements with certain accredited investors whereby we
sold 15,500,000 shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to $0.04 for an aggregate purchase price of $620,000. Proceeds from this offering
are expected to be used for working capital, new product development and testing, and general business operations. The placement agent for the private
placement and is entitled to receive a total fee equal to 6% of the total gross proceeds and warrants to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock
equal to 10% of the number of shares of Common Stock issued to the Investors, for such services rendered. The warrants are exercisable for 3 years at an
exercise price equal to $0.04.

As of June 30, 2021, the Company has reserved common stock for issuance in relation to the following:

Share-based compensation plan     17,000,000
Warrants to purchase common stock  19,827,500
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On February 10, 2020, a majority of our stockholders through a written consent approved the following: (i) an amendment to our Restated Certificate of
Incorporation which will increase the number of authorized shares of Common Stock from 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock to 3,000,000,000 shares
of Common Stock and (ii) an amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of our Common Stock by a ratio of not
less than one-for-thirty and not more than one-for-one hundred, with the exact number to be set at a whole number within this range to be determined by
our board of directors in its sole discretion and to authorize our board of directors to implement the reverse stock split by filing an amendment to our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. . On May 26, 2020, the Company filed an amendment to its certificate of incorporation to increase the
number of the Company's authorized shares of common stock from 100,000,000 shares of common stock to 3,000,000,000 shares of common stock, which
was subsequently amended as described in the next paragraph. The reverse stock split has not been effected as of date of the filing of this Form 10-Q. For
more information on these amendments, please see the Company’s Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed with the SEC on March 16,
2020.

On June 22, 2021, a majority of our stockholders through a written consent approved an amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to
decrease the number of authorized shares of Common Stock from 3,000,000,000 shares of Common Stock to 750,000,000 shares of Common Stock.  On
August 2, 2021, the Company filed the amendment to its certificate of incorporation to decrease the number of the Company’s authorized shares of
common stock from 3,000,000,000 shares of common stock to 750,000,000 shares of common stock.  For more information on this amendments, please
see the Company’s Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed with the SEC on July 12, 2021.

11.    Concentrations of Risk

The Company’s revenues are concentrated in a small group of customers with some individually having more than 10%of total revenues.

Revenues from three customers that exceeded 10% of total revenues for the period ended June 30, 2021 were 28%, 24%, and 16%. The accounts receivable
from the top three customers were  13%, 0%, and 44% as well as 25% from one other customer of the total accounts receivable as of June 30, 2021.  

Revenues from three customers that exceeded 10% of total revenues for the period ended June 30, 2020 were 23%,27% and 39%. The accounts receivable
from the four customers were 59%, 13%, 12%, and 11% as of June 30, 2020.

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash. Cash balances are maintained principally at
major U.S. financial institutions and are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to regulatory limits. From time to time, cash
balances may exceed the FDIC insurance limit. The Company has not experienced any credit losses associated with its cash balances in the past.

12.    Share-based Compensation

On August 28, 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”). The 2019 Plan provides for the granting of incentive
stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock units, performance awards, dividend
equivalent rights and other awards, which may be granted singly, in combination, or in tandem, and which may be paid in cash, shares of common stock of
the Company or a combination of cash and shares of common stock of the Company. The Company initially reserved a total of 2,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for awards under the 2019 Plan. Effective as of May 26, 2020 and May 3, 2021, respectively, the Board approved an increase of
the number of authorized shares of common stock reserved under the 2019 Plan from 2,000,000 shares of common stock to 17,000,000 shares of common
stock and from 17,000,000 shares of common stock to 20,000,000 shares of common stock, all of which may be delivered pursuant to incentive stock
options., all of which may be delivered pursuant to incentive stock options. Subject to adjustments pursuant to the 2019 Plan, the maximum number of
shares of common stock with respect to which stock options or SARs may be granted to an executive officer during any calendar year is 500,000 shares of
common stock.

Incentive stock options

On March 8, 2021, the Company granted Dr. Jerome Zeldis, a member of the Company Board, an option to purchase up to 666,667 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a per share exercise price of $0.06 under the Company’s 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan.  This option award fully vested as
of the date of grant.  
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On March 8, 2021, the Company appointed Steven Glassman to the Board of Directors to serve for a term expiring at the next annual meeting of
stockholders or until his successor is duly elected and qualified.  On March 8, 2021 and in consideration for his appointment to the board of directors, the
Company granted Mr. Glassman an option to purchase up to 500,000 shares of common stock at a per share exercise price of $0.08 under the Company’s
2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan.  This option award fully vested as of the date of grant.  

On January 15, 2021, the Company awarded a contractor options to purchase an aggregate of 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a per
share exercise price of $0.06 under the Company’s 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan.  This option award fully vested 20% as of the date of grant and the
remaining 80% in November 2022.  

In May 2020 and July 2020, pursuant to the terms of the 2019 Plan, the Company awarded options to purchase an aggregate of 5,325,000 shares of
common stock to two of its employees and one contractor. Pursuant to the terms of the option agreements, 325,000 of the options vested on the date of
grant, and of the 5,000,000 options, 10% of such options vested on the date of grant, and the remaining of such options will vest upon meeting established
criteria.  The term of the options is ten years.

On February 17, 2020, the Company granted certain equity awards to the members of the Company's Board of Director with the following terms: each of
Messrs. Stefansky and Stein received two annual awards of stock options equal to $40,000 of the Company's common stock, granted under the Company
2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "Incentive Plan"), with (i) the first grant being the right to purchase up to 2,857,141 shares of the Company's common
stock at a per share exercise price of $0.014 with one-half of such option vesting on March 31, 2020 and the remaining one-half vesting in equal
installments on June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020, respectively, and with an acceleration of any unvested options upon the departure of applicable
Board member from the Board for any reason and (ii) the second grant being the right to purchase up to a number of shares of the Company's common
stock equal to $40,000 divided by the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Incentive Plan) of the Company's common stock as of October 10, 2020 at a per
share exercise price equal to Fair Market Value of the Company's common stock as of October 10, 2020, which the Board determined to be $0.06 and
equates to 666,667 shares underlying each of the second grants, with one-fourth of such option vesting on each of December 31, 2020, March 31, 2021,
June 30, 2021 and September 30, 2021, respectively, and with an acceleration of any unvested options upon the departure of applicable Board member
from the Board for any reason.

The following table contains information about the 2019 Plan as of June 30, 2021:

    Awards         Awards 
Reserved for Available for

Issuance Awards Issued Grant
2019 Plan  17,000,000  14,705,949  2,294,051
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The following table summarizes the Company’s incentive stock option activity and related information for the period ended December 31, 2020 and for the
period ended June 30, 2021:

            
Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Number of Exercise Contractual
Options  Price Term in Years

Outstanding at January 1, 2020  1,000,000  $ 0.053525  9.6
Granted  12,705,949 $ 0.0291  10.0
Exercised  —  —  —
Forfeited  —  —  —
Cancelled  —  —  —
Expired  —  —  —
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 13,705,949 $ 0.027736 9.32

Granted 1,666,667 $ 0.08 10.0
Exercised — — —
Forfeited — — —
Cancelled — — —
Expired — — —
Outstanding at June 30, 2021  15,372,616 $ 0.034889  8.91
Exercisable at June 30, 2021 9,105,949 $ 0.025441 8.75

As of June 30, 2021, vested outstanding stock options had $988 thousand intrinsic value as the exercise price is greater than the estimated fair value of the
underlying common stock. As of June 30, 2021, there was approximately $75 thousand of total unrecognized share-based compensation related to unvested
stock options, which the Company expects to recognize over the next 12 months.

The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock option awards on a straight-line basis over the applicable service period of the award. The service
period is generally the vesting period.  The following assumptions were used to calculate share-based compensation expense for six months ended June 30,
2021:

Volatility     171.12%- 172.19 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.46% - 0.86 %
Dividend yield  0.0 %
Expected term  5.0 – 5.25 years

The Company does not have sufficient historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and post-vesting
employment termination behavior. Accordingly, the Company has elected to use the “simplified method” to estimate the expected term of its share-based
awards. The simplified method computes the expected term as the sum of the award’s vesting term plus the original contractual term divided by two.

Based on the lack of historical data of volatility for the Company’s common stock, the Company based its estimate of expected volatility on a weighted-
average of the historical volatility of comparable public companies that manufacture similar products and are similar in size, stage of life cycle, and
financial leverage.
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Restrictive stock awards

On February 17, 2020, the Company granted a restricted stock award of 5,928,571 shares of the Company’s common stock to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and then Interim Chief Financial Officer, Adam Levy, with the following vesting terms: (i) 3/12 th of such shares vested as of February
17, 2020; (ii) 1/12th of such shares vested on each of the eight months following February 17, 2020 and (iii) all remaining shares vest on September 10,
2020.

On March 8, 2021, the Company granted a restricted stock award of 1,383,333 shares of the Company’s common stock to the Adam Levy for his service as
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer from October 1, 2020 through September 30, 2021, all of which shares vested immediately.

Weighted 
Average

Number of Grant Date 
    Units     Fair Value

Granted  7,311,904 $ 0.023
Exercised and converted to common shares (5,928,571) 0.014
Forfeited — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 1,383,333 $ 0.060
Granted — —
Exercised and converted to common shares  (1,383,333)  0.060
Forfeited  —  —
Outstanding at June 30, 2021  — $ —
Exercisable at June 30,2021  — $ —

Under ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”), the Company has measured the value of its February 2020 award as if it were vested
and issued on the grant date with a value of $83 thousand based on the closing price of the Company's stock at the grant date of the RSU Grant ($0.014 per
share). An additional issuance of 1,383,333 shares was granted based on a closing price of the closing price of the Company’s stock at the grant date of the
RSU Grant ($0.06 per share). As of June 30, 2021, there was approximately $21 thousand of total unrecognized share-based compensation related to
restricted stock awards, which the Company expects to recognize over the next 6 months.

Compensation expense will be recognized ratably over the total vesting schedule. The Company will periodically adjust the cumulative compensation
expense for forfeited awards. Stock based compensation of $143 thousand and $104 thousand has been recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2021
and 2020, respectively.



Table of Contents

23

Warrants

The following table shows a summary of common stock warrants through June 30, 2021:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Number of Exercise Contractual
    Warrants     Price     Term in Years

Outstanding at December 31, 2019  5,250,000 $ 0.014000  2.81

Granted  2,117,500 $ 0.050720  5.00
Exercised  —  —  —
Forfeited  —  —  —
Cancelled  —  —  —
Expired  —  —  —
Outstanding at December 31, 2020  7,367,500 $ 0.050720  2.54
Granted  12,460,000 $ 0.135188  4.77
Exercised  —  —  —
Forfeited  —  —  —
Cancelled  —  —  —
Expired  —  —  —
Outstanding at June 30, 2021  19,827,500 $ 0.094078  3.39
Exercisable at June 30, 2021  19,827,500 $ 0.094078  3.39

As of June 30, 2021, vested outstanding warrants had $561 thousand intrinsic value as the exercise price is greater than the estimated fair value of the
underlying common stock.

13.    Note Payable

PPP Loan

On April 22, 2020, the Company, entered into a promissory note (the “Promissory Note”) with PNC Bank, N.A. (the “Bank”), which provides for a loan in
the amount of $147,300 (the “PPP Loan”) pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the
“CARES Act”). On March 4, 2021, the Company received a second PPP Loan in the amount of $127,400 thousand under Phase II of the Paycheck
Protection Program which commenced on January 13, 2021 and allowed certain businesses that received an initial PPP Loan to seek a second draw PPP
Loan. The PPP Loan has a two-year term and bears interest at a rate of 1.0% per annum. Monthly principal and interest payments are deferred for six
months after the date of disbursement. The PPP Loan may be prepaid at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. The Promissory Note
contains events of default and other provisions customary for a loan of this type. The Paycheck Protection Program provides that the PPP Loan may be
partially or wholly forgiven if the funds are used for certain qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act. The Company used the proceeds from the
PPP Loan for qualifying expenses and plans to apply for forgiveness of the PPP Loan in accordance with the terms of the CARES Act. However, the
Company cannot completely assure at this time that such forgiveness of the PPP Loan will occur. On June 2, 2021, the Company received notice from PNC
Bank that its initial loan of $147,300 had been forgiven in its entirety by the SBA. The balance of the PPP loan as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020
amounts to $127,400 and $147,300, respectively.

Economic Injury Disaster Loan

On May 28, 2020, the Company entered into the standard loan documents required for securing a loan (the “EIDL Loan”) from the SBA under its
Economic Injury Disaster Loan (“EIDL”) assistance program in light of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Company’s business. Pursuant to
that certain Loan Authorization and Agreement (the “SBA Loan Agreement”), the principal amount of the EIDL Loan is up to $ 260,500, with proceeds to
be used for working capital purposes. Interest accrues at the rate of 3.75% per annum. Installment payments, including principal and interest, are due
monthly beginning May 28, 2021 (twelve months from the date of the SBA Note in the amount of $1,270. The balance of principal and interest is payable
thirty years from the date of the SBA Note. In connection therewith, the Company received an $8,000 advance, which does not have to be repaid. The
balance of the EIDL Loan as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 amounts to $271,163 and $266,279, respectively.
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14.    Convertible Notes Payable

On December 24, 2020, the Company entered into two Securities Purchase Agreement, dated December 24, 2020 (the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to
which the Company issued the following (i) $100,000 6% Secured Convertible Promissory Note which was convertible into shares of the Company’s
common stock at a price per share of $0.08 and (ii) Common Stock purchase warrants to purchase up to 312,500 shares of common stock with an exercise
price of $0.08. The notes are secured by all of the assets and equipment owned by the Company. The notes were due on or before June 24, 2021 and fully-
repaid (including all accrued but unpaid interest) on March 14, 2021.

On January 19, 2021, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, (the “2021 Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company issued
the following (i) $15,000 Secured Convertible Promissory Note which was convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at a price per share of
$0.03. The notes were due on or before March 19, 2021 and fully-repaid (including all accrued but unpaid interest) on March 14, 2021.

Auctus Fund Financing

On March 11, 2021 (the “Issuance Date”), the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “Auctus Purchase Agreement”) with Auctus
Fund, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Auctus”), pursuant to which the Company issued to Auctus a senior secured convertible promissory
note in the principal amount of $1,500,000 (the “Auctus Note”). The net proceeds received by the Company were $1,337,000 (after deducting fees and
expenses related to the transaction, including a payment to Alere (as defined and discussed below). The Company intends to use the net proceeds for
working capital and general corporate purposes.

On August 13, 2021, the Company and Auctus entered a First Amendment to the Senior Secured Promissory Note, Warrants and Securities Purchase
Agreement dated March 11, 2011 (the “Auctus Amendment”). The Auctus Amendment is attached to this Form 10-Q as Exhibit 10.1 and is incorporated
herein by reference.

The Auctus Note has a maturity date of one year from the Issuance Date. The Auctus Note bears interest at a rate of 12% per annum, which is also payable
on maturity, with the understanding that the first 12 months of interest (equal to $180,000) is guaranteed and deemed to be earned in full as of the Issuance
Date. In the event the Company fails to pay any amount when due under the Auctus Note, the interest rate will increase to the greater of 16% or the
maximum amount permitted by law. The Auctus Note may be prepaid during the first 180 calendar days from the Issuance Date subject to a 110%
prepayment penalty on all principal and accrued but unpaid interest then outstanding.  The Auctus Note may not be paid in whole or in part after 180
calendar days from the Issuance Date.

Auctus may convert any amount due under the Auctus Note at any time, and from time to time, into shares of the Company’s common stock at a
conversion price of $0.10 per share; provided, however, that Auctus may not convert any portion of the Auctus Note that would cause it to beneficially own
in excess of 4.99% of the Company’s common stock. The conversion price and number of shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon
conversion of the Auctus Note will be subject to adjustment from time to time for any subdivision or consolidation of shares and other standard dilutive
events.

The Auctus Note (as amended by the Auctus Amendment) contains a number of events of default, including but not limited to the following: (i) the
Company’s failure to be quoted or listed (as applicable) on the OTCQB, OTCQX, any tier of the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange,
or the NYSE American by October 31, 2021 (the “Trading Date”) and (ii) the Company’s failure to file a registration statement covering the Auctus’ resale
at prevailing market prices (and not fixed prices) of all of the common stock underlying the Auctus Note and the Auctus Warrants (as defined below) within
30 calendar days following the Issuance Date, (ii) cause the registration statement to become effective by the Trading Date.  An event of default is subject to
a confession of judgement against the Company in the favor of Auctus.  Additionally, the Auctus Note is secured by all of the assets of the Company
pursuant to a security agreement that was entered into in connection with the issuance of the Auctus Note (the “Security Agreement”); provided, however,
the Security Agreement will be automatically terminated as of the Trading Date assuming no event of default then exists. The Auctus Amendment waived
any events of default which may have existed under Sections 3.18 and 3.19 of the Auctus Note prior to August 13, 2021.
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In connection with the issuance of the Auctus Note, Auctus was also issued two five-year warrants as follows: the first warrant was to purchase up to an
aggregate of 6,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.125 per share (the “First Auctus Warrant”) and the second
warrant was to purchase up to an aggregate of 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.15 per share (the “Second
Auctus Warrant”).  The First Auctus Warrant and the Second Auctus Warrant are referred to herein as the “Auctus Warrants” and the shares of the
Company’s common stock underlying the Auctus Warrants are referred to as the “Auctus Warrant Shares”.

Auctus may not exercise the Auctus Warrants with respect to any number of Auctus Warrant Shares that would cause it to beneficially own in excess of
4.99% of the Company’s common stock.  The Auctus Warrants may be exercised for cash, or, if the “market price” of the Company’s common stock is
greater than the Auctus Warrant’s exercise price, and there is not an effective registration statement covering the Auctus Warrant Shares, the Auctus
Warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis. The number of shares of common stock to be deliverable upon exercise of the Auctus Warrants is subject to
adjustment for subdivision or consolidation of shares and other standard dilutive events, or in the event the Company effects a reorganization,
reclassification, merger, consolidation, disposition of assets, or other fundamental transaction.

Pursuant to the Auctus Purchase Agreement, the Company granted Auctus piggyback registration rights with respect to the shares underlying the Auctus
Note and the Auctus Warrant.  In addition, the Company agreed that, while any amount remains unpaid under the Auctus Note, it would not sell securities
on more favorable terms than those provided to Auctus, without adjusting Auctus’ terms accordingly. Further, among other things, the Company agreed
that, while any amount remains unpaid under the Auctus Note, it would not enter into any variable rate transactions.

Further and in connection with the issuance of the Auctus Note, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement with Auctus (the “Registration
Rights Agreement”) whereby it the Company agreed to (i) file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement covering resale by
Auctus at prevailing market prices (and not fixed prices) of all of the common stock underlying the Auctus Note and the Auctus Warrants within 30
calendar days following the Issuance Date, (ii) cause the registration statement to become effective by the Trading Date.

Alere Financial, A Division of Cova Capital Partners, LLC (“Alere”), served as the placement agent for the Auctus Note and received a total cash fee equal
to $120,000 (or 8% of the principal amount of the Auctus Note).  Additionally, Alere received warrants to purchase 654,545 and 545,455 shares of common
stock at an exercise price equal to $0.125 and $0.15, respectively, for such services rendered. Alere’s warrants are in a customary form reasonably
acceptable to Alere and exercisable for 3 years.  Mr. Levy, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is affiliated with Alere but
has waived any portion of such fee received by Alere to which he is entitled as an affiliate of Alere.

As of June 30, 2021, the note outstanding was $510,904, which consisted of unamortized balance of $852,288 of a beneficial conversion and warrant
features, unamortized original issue discount of $125,260 and unamortized debt issuance costs of $191,547.

15.    Warrant Liability

On March 11, 2021, February 3, 2021, December 24, 2020, March 18, 2020, September 10, 2019 and November 6, 2019, the Company issued 1,200,000,
260,000, 255,000, 1,550,000, 1,250,000 and 4,000,000 warrants, respectively, as equity issuance consideration, in connection with a private placement of
the Company’s common stock. The warrants entitle the holder to purchase one share of our common stock at an exercise price equal to $0.014 to $0.15 per
share at any time on or after their issuance date and on or prior to the close of business 3 years after the issuance date (the “Termination Date”). The
Company determined that these warrants are free standing financial instruments that are legally detachable and separately exercisable from the common
stock included in the public share offering. Management also determined that the warrants required classification as a liability pursuant to ASC 815. In
accordance with the accounting guidance, the outstanding warrants are recognized as a warrant liability on the balance sheet and are measured at their
inception date fair value and subsequently re-measured at each reporting period with changes being recorded as a component of other income in the
statement of operations.
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The fair value of the warrant liabilities was measured using a Black-Scholes model. Significant inputs into the model at the inception are as follows:

Future
Estimated

Warrant Time to Calculated Quarterly
Exercise Expiration Interest Rate Volatility Maturity fair value Dividend

Black -Scholes Assumptions     Price(1)(2)     Date (1)(2)     Stock Price (3)     (annual) (4) (annual) (5) (Years)       per share     per share(6)

March 11, 2021 $ 0.125 – 0.15 March 11, 2024 $ 0.10 0.17 %  172.54 %  5.0 $ 0.0093 - 0.0094 $ —
February 3, 2021 $ 0.08 February 3, 2024 $ 0.08 0.18 %  171.71 %  3.0 $ 0.0690703 $ —

December 24, 2020 $ 0.08 December 24, 2020 $ 0.08 0.17 %  172.54 %  3.0 $ 0.0692188 $ —
March 18, 2020 $ 0.04 March 18, 2020 $ 0.04 0.66 %  137.41 %  3.0 $ 0.0307299 $ —

September 10, 2019 $ 0.014 September 10, 2022 $ 0.014 1.61 %  139.84 %  3.0 $ 0.01091 $ —
November 6, 2019 $ 0.014 November 6, 2022 $ 0.014 1.60 %  138.48 %  3.0 $ 0.01095 $ —

Significant inputs into the model at the reporting period measurement dates are as follows:

        Future
Estimated

Warrant Time to Calculated Quarterly
Exercise Expiration Interest Rate Volatility Maturity fair value Dividend

Black-Scholes Assumptions     Price(1)(2)     Date (1)(2) Stock Price (3) (annual) (4) (annual) (5)     (Years)       per share     per share(6)

June 30, 2021 $    0.125 – 0.15 March 11, 2024 $ 0.10 0.87 %  170.53 %  4.70 $ 0.0093 - 0.0094 $ —
June 30, 2021 $ 0.08 February 3, 2024 $ 0.08 0.87 %  170.53 %  4.70 $ 0.0692188 $ —
June 30, 2021 $ 0.08 December 24, 2020 $ 0.08 0.25 %  170.53 %  2.60 $ 0.0692188 $ —
June 30, 2021 $ 0.04  March 18, 2020 $ 0.04 0.25 %  170.53 %   2.48 $ 0.0307299 $ —
June 30, 2021 $ 0.014  September 10, 2022 $ 0.014 0.07 %  170.53 %   1.72 $ 0.01091 $ —
June 30, 2021 $ 0.014  November 6, 2022 $ 0.014 0.07 %  170.53 %   1.20 $ 0.01095 $ —

            Future
Estimated

Warrant Interest Time to Calculated Quarterly
Exercise Expiration Stock Rate Volatility Maturity fair value Dividend

Black-Scholes Assumptions Price(1)(2) Date (1)(2) Price (3) (annual) (4) (annual) (5) (Years) per share    per share(6)

December 31, 2020 $ 0.08 December 24, 2020 $ 0.08 0.17 %  172.38 %  2.98 $ 0.0692188 $ —
December 31, 2020 $ 0.04 March 18, 2023 $ 0.04 0.13 %  172.38 %  2.21 $ 0.0307299 $ —
December 31, 2020 $ 0.014 September 10, 2022 $ 0.014 0.13 %  172.38 %  1.85 $ 0.01091 $ —
December 31, 2020 $ 0.014  November 6, 2022 $ 0.014 1.13 %  172.38 %  1.69 $ 0.01095 $ —

(1) Based on the terms provided in the warrant agreement related to the issuance of common stock of on March 11th, 2021

(2) Based on the terms provided in the warrant agreement related to the issuance of common stock of on February  3rd, 2021

(3) Based on the terms provided in the warrant agreement related to the issuance of common stock of on December 24th, 2020

(4) Based on the terms provided in the warrant agreement related to the issuance of common stock of on March 18th, 2020

(5) Based on the terms provided in the warrant agreement related to the issuance of common stock of on September 10th, 2019

(6) Based on the terms provided in the warrant agreement related to the issuance of common stock of on November 6th, 2019

(7) Based on the observable transaction value of common stock of per the most recent stock issuance financing agreements.

(8) Interest rate for U.S. Treasury Bonds, as of the issuance dates and each presented period ending date, as published by the U.S. Federal Reserve.

(9) Based on the historical daily volatility of Guideline Public Companies and each presented period ending date.

(10) Current estimated dividend payments beyond initial four quarters. At a future date, the company will review the working capital needs and make a final
determination of any future dividend payments.
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The warrants outstanding and fair values at each of the respective valuation dates are summarized below:

    Warrants      Fair Value     
Warrant Liability Outstanding per Share Fair Value
Fair Value as of period ending 12/31/19  5,250,000 $ 0.01086 $ 56

Fair Value at initial measurement date 1,805,000 $ 0.03616 $ 65
Change in fair value of warrant liability  2
Fair Value as of period ending 12/31/20 7,055,000 $ 123
Fair Value at initial measurement dates  1,460,000 $ 0.08273 $ 130
Change in fair value of warrant liability    (8)
Fair Value as of period ending 6/30/2021  8,515,000 $ 245

16.    Related Party Transactions

Convertible Promissory Note

On December 24, 2020, the Company issued two Secured Convertible Promissory Notes in an aggregate amount of $100,000 to Mr. Stein, a member of the
board of directors and an entity affiliated to Mr. Stein, N&F Trust 774 (See Note 14). The notes were repaid in March 2021.

Advances

Dr. Jerome Zeldis, a member of the Company Board, has an outstanding balance due of $30,000 for services as of December 31, 2020. The fees were paid
in February 2021.

Sports Defense Acquisition

On May 29, 2020, the Company entered into a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement whereby the Company purchased all of the outstanding equity
securities of Sport Defense LLC. , Adam Levy, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and Nachum Stein, a member of the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), were each members of Sport Defense and part of the Sellers. Mr. Levy received 1,546,875 of the shares and
Mr. Stein received 3,187,500 of the shares (See Note 3).

17.    Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events for the potential recognition or disclosure through August 16, 2021, the date the financial statements were
available to be issued, and has determined that the following matter should be disclosed in the accompanying condensed financial statements.

On August 2, 2021, the Company filed an amendment to its certificate of incorporation to decrease the number of the Company’s authorized shares of
common stock from 3,000,000,000 shares of common stock to 750,000,000 shares of common stock.

On August 13, 2021, the Company and Auctus Fund, LLC entered a First Amendment to the Senior Secured Promissory Note, Warrants and Securities
Purchase Agreement dated March 11, 2011 (the “Auctus Amendment”). The Auctus Amendment is attached to this Form 10-Q as Exhibit 10.1, is
incorporated herein by reference and is more fully described in Footnote 14 above.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the condensed financial
statements and related notes above.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements,” which include information relating to future events, future financial
performance, strategies, expectations, competitive environment and regulation. Words such as “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “predict,” “potential,”
“continue,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,” and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tense, identify
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and may not be accurate
indications of when such performance or results will actually be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information we have when those
statements are made or our management’s good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that
could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

● our ability to continue as a going concern;

● inadequate capital;

● inadequate or an inability to raise sufficient capital to execute our business plan;

● our ability to comply with current good manufacturing practices;

● loss or retirement of key executives;

● our plans to make significant additional outlays of working capital before we expect to generate significant revenues and the uncertainty regarding
when we will begin to generate significant revenues, if we are able to do so;

● adverse economic conditions and/or intense competition;

● loss of a key customer or supplier;

● entry of new competitors;

● adverse federal, state and local government regulation;

● technological obsolescence of our manufacturing process and equipment;

● technical problems with our research and products;

● risks of mergers and acquisitions including the time and cost of implementing transactions and the potential failure to achieve expected gains,
revenue growth or expense savings;

● price increases for supplies and components; and

● the inability to carry out our business plans.
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For a discussion of these and other risks that relate to our business and investing in shares of our common stock, you should carefully review the risks and
uncertainties described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement
to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which any such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Overview

We manufacture a high-water content, electron beam cross-linked, aqueous polymer hydrogels, or gels, used for wound care, medical diagnostics,
transdermal drug delivery and cosmetics. We believe that we are one of the leading manufacturers of high-performance gels in the United States. We
specialize in custom gels by capitalizing on proprietary manufacturing technologies. We have historically served as a contract manufacturer, supplying our
gels to third parties who incorporate them into their own products. Our contract manufacturing business provides custom hydrogels to the OEM market. We
have recently launched an initiative to produce and market consumer products based on our unique technology. We believe there will be significant interest
for applications in beauty and cosmetics, foot care, and over the counter remedies.

The Spin-Off

On June 21, 2019, AquaMed became an independent company through the pro rata distribution (“Spin-Off”) by Adynxx, Inc. (“Adynxx” and the “Parent”)
in connection with the closing of a reverse merger between Adynxx, Inc. and Alliqua BioMedical, Inc., of AquaMed’s common stock for common stock of
Parent. Adynxx, Inc. was previously known as Alliqua BioMedical, Inc. and subsequently changed its name to Adynxx, Inc. on May 3, 2019. The terms and
conditions of the Spin-Off provided that each record holder of Parent stock as of April 22, 2019, received one share of AquaMed common stock in book-
entry form and resulted in the distribution of 5,005,211 shares of common stock of AquaMed. Following the distribution (“Capitalization”), all existing
operations were distributed to AquaMed with the exception of a corporate lease for property in Yardley, Pennsylvania which was retained by Adynxx, Inc.

Following the distribution (“Capitalization”), all existing operations were distributed to AquaMed with the exception of a corporate lease for property in
Yardley, Pennsylvania which was retained by Adynxx, Inc.

Pursuant to the Spin-Off and in exchange for the 5,005,211 shares of common stock, NexGel assumed the following net assets and liabilities from Parent as
of June 21, 2019 ($ in thousands):

Assets:       
Cash $  186
Accounts receivable, net   72
Inventory   140
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   101
Property and equipment, net   155
Operating lease - right of use asset   976
Other assets   178
Total assets   1,808

Liabilities:    
Accounts payable   (496)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (395)
Operating lease liability   (976)
Long-term operating lease liability    
Total liabilities   (1,867)

Net liabilities assumed in Spin-Off on June 21, 2019 $  (59)

Basis of Presentation

These interim condensed financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"), which permit reduced disclosure for interim periods. The condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 was derived from audited
financial statements for the fiscal year then ended, but does not include all necessary disclosures
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required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP") with respect to annual financial statements. In the opinion
of management, the condensed financial statements include all adjustments, which are of a normal recurring nature, necessary to present fairly the
Company’s financial position as of June 30, 2021 and results of operations and cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. These
unaudited condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto in the Company’s year-
end financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, which are included in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with SEC on March 31,
2021. Results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for a full fiscal year or for any future period.

Recent developments

The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary NexGelRX, Inc. conducted proof of concept studies for the development of its first medical device, which we call
(“Nexdrape”) and filed for patents on this device. The Nexdrape device is an incise surgical drape designed for patients with impaired skin. The elderly,
diabetics, trauma patients and those with an adhesive sensitivity can have adverse events from the removal of adhesive drapes. These groups represent a
sizable percentage of the market.  Skin tears, infections, rashes, and post-surgical site pain are some of the problems that can occur, and have been reported
with other currently available surgical drapes. We believe Nexdrape will represent a gentle to the skin alternative to the current adhesive based standard of
care.  The Company intends to file a 510(k) premarket submission with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), which is an application to demonstrate
that Nexdrape is as safe and effective (or substantially equivalent to) a legally marketed surgical drape device. There can be no guarantee that the FDA
approves our application, if submitted.

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to the Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Revenues, net. For the three months ended June 30, 2021, revenues increased by $326,000 to $417,000 when compared to $91,000 for the three months
ended June 30, 2020. The increase in our overall revenues was predominantly due to initiation of consumer product sales and finished good custom white-
label sales. There was a decrease in our historical legacy revenue due to certain customers experiencing supply chain delays related to Covid-19 in 2020.

Gross profit (loss). Our gross profit was $4,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, compared to a gross loss of $85,000 for the three months ended
June 30, 2020. The gross income recorded for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to a gross loss recorded for the three months ended
June 30, 2020, was primarily due to a significant cost associated with restart of our plant accelerator post upgrade. On a percentage basis, our gross profit
was approximately 1% for the three months ended June 30, 2021. Gross loss for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was approximately 93%.

The components of cost of revenues are as follows for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 ($ in thousands):

    Three Months Ended 
June 30,

    2021     2020
Cost of revenues      

Materials and finished products $  171 $  46
Share-based compensation   —   1
Compensation and benefits   134   118
Depreciation and amortization   22   7
Equipment, production and other expenses   86   4
Total cost of revenues $  413 $  176

Cost of revenues increased by $237 thousand to $413 thousand for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $176 thousand for the
three months ended June 30, 2020. The increase in cost of revenues is primarily attributable was primarily due to a significant cost associated with restart of
the plant accelerator post upgrade and increased material and finished products associated with increased revenue. The company anticipates increased
utilization of the facility is the current year.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses. The following table highlights selling, general and administrative expenses by type for the three months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 ($ in thousands):

    Three Months Ended
June 30,

    2021     2020
Selling, general and administrative expenses      

Compensation and benefits $  83 $  113
Share-based compensation   95   39
Depreciation and amortization   4   4
Other expenses and professional fees   375   299

Total selling, general and administrative expenses $  557 $  455

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $102,000 to $557,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $455,000 for the
three months ended June 30, 2020. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily attributable to our higher costs for professional
fees and other administrative expenses.

Compensation and benefits declined by $30,000 to $83,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $113,000 for the three months ended
June 30, 2020. The company’s adjustments to staffing resulted in a compensation decrease compared to the prior year period.

Share-based compensation was $95,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2021, which is related to stock option expense of $74,000 to a director and a
strategic advisor and $21,000 related to the vesting of restricted awards to our Chief Executive Officer. Share-based compensation was $39,000 for the
three months ended June 30, 2020, which is related to the issuance of 5,714,282 stock options and the issuance of restricted awards to our Chief Executive
Officer.

Other Expenses and professional fees increased by $76,000 to $375,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2021 from $299,000 for the three months
ended June 30, 2020. Other selling, general and administrative expenses generally consist of costs associated with our selling efforts and general
management, including information technology, travel, training and recruiting. We continued to incur legal, accounting and consulting fees associated with
public company governance requirements, however, the increase in professional fees compared to the prior year period was the primary result of
professional fees incurred in preparation for a planned exchange listing.

Six months Ended June 30, 2021 Compared to the Six months Ended June 30, 2020

Revenues, net. For the six months ended June 30, 2021 revenues were $683,000 and increased by $352,000 when compared to $331,000 for the six months
ended June 30, 2020. The increase in our overall revenues was predominantly due to initiation of consumer product sales and finished good custom white-
label and branded product sales. There was a decrease in our historical legacy revenue due to certain customers experiencing supply chain delays related to
Covid-19 during 2020.

Gross profit (loss). Our gross loss was $39,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to a gross loss of $18,000 for the six months ended June 
30, 2020.  The loss recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2020, was primarily due to the higher 
volume of contract manufacturing sales and lower manufacturing labor costs. Gross loss was approximately 6% for the six months ended June 30, 2021. 
Gross loss was 5% for the six months ended June 30, 2020.

The components of cost of revenues are as follows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 ($ in thousands):

    Six Months Ended  
June 30,

2021 2020
Cost of revenues

Materials and finished products  $  231 $  84
Share-based compensation    —   1
Compensation and benefits    262   240
Depreciation and amortization    43   14
Equipment, production and other expenses    186   10
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Total cost of revenues  $  722 $  349

Selling, general and administrative expenses. The following table highlights selling, general and administrative expenses by type for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 ($ in thousands):

Six Months Ended  
June 30,

2021 2020
Selling, general and administrative expenses

Compensation and benefits     $  172     $  218
Share-based compensation    185   103
Depreciation and amortization    7   7
Other expenses and professional fees    670   703

Total selling, general and administrative expenses  $  1,034 $  1,031

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $3,000 to $1,034,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $1,031,000 for the
six months ended June 30, 2020. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily attributable to increased share-based
compensation offset by lower costs for professional fees, executive compensation and other administrative expenses compared to the prior year period.

Compensation and benefits decreased by $46,000 to $172,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, as compared to $218,000 for the six months ended
June 30, 2020. The number of employees increased compared to the prior period, however, adjustments to staffing compensation resulted in a decrease
compared to the prior year period.

Share-based compensation was $185,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, which is related to stock option expense of $143,000 to a director and a
strategic advisor and $42,000 related to the vesting of restricted awards to our Chief Executive Officer

Other Expenses and Professional fees decreased by $33,000 to $670,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 from $703,000 for the six months ended
June 30, 2020. Other selling, general and administrative expenses generally consist of costs associated with our selling efforts and general management,
including information technology, travel, training and recruiting. We continued to incur legal, accounting and consulting fees associated with public
company governance requirements, however, the decrease in professional fees compared to the prior year period was the primary result in the cost
reduction, offset by professional fees incurred in preparation for a planned exchange listing.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2021, we had $382 thousand of cash, compared to $32 thousand of cash at December 31, 2020. Net cash used in operating activities was $1
million and $980 thousand for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Net cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $267 thousand related to facility upgrade costs. Net cash used in
investing activities was $ 76 thousand for the six months ended June 30, 2020 related to equipment purchases.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $1.7 million which is attributable to the issuance of common stock of
$285 thousand and proceeds of a notes payable of $15 thousand and proceeds from the PPP loan of $128 thousand and convertible notes payable of $1.3
million. Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $1 million which is attributable to the issuance of common
stock and proceeds of a notes payable of $408,000.

At June 30, 2021, current assets totaled $909,000 and current liabilities totaled $1,769,000, as compared to current assets totaling $363,000 and current
liabilities totaling $1,332,000 at December 31, 2020. As a result, we had working capital deficit of $860,000 at June 30, 2021, compared to a working
capital deficit of $969,000 at December 31, 2020. The decrease in the working capital deficit as of June 30, 2021 is primarily attributable to the capital
raised and additional convertible notes payable due in March 2022.

On March 11, 2021, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement with Auctus Fund, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Auctus”),
pursuant to which the Company issued to Auctus a 12% senior secured convertible promissory note in the
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principal amount of $1,500,000 which is convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at a price per share of $0.10. The net proceeds received
by the Company were $1,337,000 after deducting fees and expenses related to the transaction.

On March 4, 2021, the Company received a second PPP Loan in the amount of $128 thousand under Phase II of the Paycheck Protection Program which
commenced on January 13, 2021 and allowed certain businesses that received an initial PPP Loan to seek a second draw PPP Loan.

On January 19, 2021, the Company issued a $15,000 secured convertible promissory note which was convertible into shares of the Company’s common
stock at a price per share of $0.03. The note was due on or before March 19, 2021 and fully-repaid (including all accrued but unpaid interest) on March 14,
2021.

From January 1, 2021 through March 31, 2021, the Company entered into securities purchase agreements with certain accredited investors whereby we sold
3,563,000 shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to $0.08 for an aggregate purchase price of $285,000.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. For the foreseeable future, we anticipate that all available funds and any earnings
generated in our business will be used to finance the growth of our business and will not be paid out as dividends to our shareholders. Any future
determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results
of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, business prospects and other factors our Board of Directors may deem
relevant.

The Company is in the process of expanding its customer base to increase revenue in order to alleviate the current going concern. Management is exploring
new product channel sales in consumer products, such as cosmetics, athletic products and proprietary medical devices. The Company has increased its focus
on sales and developing a sales pipeline for potential customers. This customer base expansion will enable us to provide financial stability for the
foreseeable future, expand our current processes, and position us for long-term shareholder value creation.

Moving forward, the Company will potentially be raising additional capital and focusing on increasing revenues for the business to stabilize and become
profitable. The Company will maintain and attempt to grow the existing contract manufacturing business. The Company plans to continue building and
developing its catalog of consumer products for sale to branding partners. Thirdly, we will use our in house capabilities to create and test market additional
branded products. These products will be target marketed and sold online through social media, television and online market places.

We expect to continue incurring losses for the near-term future and may need to raise additional capital to support ongoing operations. Our ability to
continue to operate as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to raise additional capital and to ultimately achieve profitable operations. Management
is evaluating various options to raise capital to funds the Company’s working capital requirements through equity offerings. There can be no assurances,
however, that management will be able to obtain sufficient additional funds when needed, or that such funds, if available, will be obtained on terms
satisfactory to us. These factors raise substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets and liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a
going concern.

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern" and on
March 10, 2020, declared it to be a pandemic. Actions taken around the world to help mitigate the spread of the coronavirus include restrictions on travel,
and quarantines in certain areas, and forced closures for certain types of public places and businesses. The coronavirus and actions taken to mitigate it have
had and are expected to continue to have an adverse impact on the economies and financial markets of many countries, including the geographical area in
which the Company operates. While it is unknown how long these conditions will last and what the complete financial effect will be to the Company, to
date, the Company could experience declining revenue, labor and supply shortages, or difficulty in raising additional capital. Our concentrations with a few
customers and one supplier make it reasonably possible that we are vulnerable to the risk of a near-term severe impact.

Additionally, it is reasonably possible that estimates made in the financial statements have been, or will be, materially and adversely impacted in the near
term as a result of these conditions, including the recoverability of long-lived assets.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of June 30, 2021, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements in the nature of guarantee contracts, retained or contingent interests in assets transferred to
entities (or similar arrangements serving as credit, liquidity or market risk support to entities for any such assets),
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or obligations (including contingent obligations) arising out of variable interests in entities providing financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support
to us, or that engage in leasing, hedging or research and development services with us.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles is based on the selection and application of
accounting policies that require us to make significant estimates and assumptions about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. We consider the
accounting policies discussed below to be critical to the understanding of our Financial Statements. Actual results could differ from our estimates and
assumptions, and any such differences could be material to our Financial Statements.

Share-based compensation – We utilize share-based compensation in the form of incentive stock options. The fair values of incentive stock option award
grants are estimated as of the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model. Compensation expense is recognized in the statements of
operations on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period required to obtain full vesting. The expected term
of the awards granted is estimated using the simplified method which computes the expected term as the sum of the award’s vesting term plus the original
contractual term divided by two.

Warrant Liability – Warrants to purchase common stock were issued in connection with equity financing raises which occurred on March 11, 2021,
February 3, 2021, December 24, 2020, March 18, 2020, September 10, 2019 and November 6, 2019. The fair values of the warrants are estimated as of the
date of issuance and again at each period end using a Black-Scholes option valuation model. At issuance, the fair value of the warrant is recognized as an
equity issuance cost within additional paid-in-capital. Fair value adjustments to the warrant liability are recognized in other income (expense) in the
statements of operations. The expected term of the awards granted are based on the 3 year contractual expiration date.

Black Scholes Inputs - The fair value of each stock option award and warrant issued was estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-
valuation model, which requires management to make certain assumptions regarding: (i) fair value of the common stock that underlies the stock option;
(ii) the expected volatility in the market price of our common stock; (iii) dividend yield; (iv) risk-free interest rates; and (iv) the period of time employees
are expected to hold the award prior to exercise (referred to as the expected term). Under the Black-Scholes option-valuation model, entities typically
estimate the expected volatility based on historical volatilities of the entity’s own common stock. Based on the lack of historical data of volatility for the
Company’s common stock, the Company based its estimate of expected volatility on a weighted average of the historical volatility of comparable public
companies that manufacture similar products and are similar in size, stage of life cycle, and financial leverage. The fair value of the common stock that
underlies the stock option is estimated by the Company considering the price of the most recent issuance of the Company’s common stock. The dividend
yield is based upon the assumption that the Company will not declare a dividend over the life of the options. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for bonds with maturities consistent with the expected term of the related award.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not required.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

As of June 30, 2021, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures” (“Disclosure Controls”), as defined by
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The Disclosure Controls evaluation was done
under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer. There are inherent
limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can
only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Based upon this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer
have concluded that our Disclosure Controls and Procedures were effective as of June 30, 2021 at a reasonable level of assurance.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2021 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the Company may become involved in lawsuits, investigations and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company
believes it has meritorious defenses against all pending claims and intends to vigorously pursue them. While it is not possible to predict or determine the
outcomes of any pending actions, the Company believes the amount of liability, if any, with respect to such actions, would not materially affect its financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity
Securities

None.

(b) Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

None

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

See “Index to Exhibits” for a description of our exhibits.

Index to Exhibits

Exhibit No.     Description
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation of AquaMed Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form S-1, filed with the SEC on

January 9, 2019).
3.2  Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of AquaMed Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to

Form S-1, filed with the SEC on January 9, 2019).
3.3  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of AquaMed Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to

Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2019).
3.4  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of AquaMed Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 14, 2019)
3.5  Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NexGel, Inc. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 29, 2020)
3.6 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of NexGel, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 2, 2021)
3.7  Amended and Restated Bylaws of AquaMed Technologies, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S-

1, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2019).
10.1* First Amendment to the Senior Secured Promissory Note, Warrants, and Securities Purchase Agreement (March 11, 2021) dated August

13, 2021 by and between NexGel. Inc. and Auctus Fund, LLC.
31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
101*  The following materials from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter June 30, 2021, formatted in iXBRL

(Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language), (i) Balance Sheets, (ii) Statements of Operations, (iii) Statements of Stockholders’
Equity, (iv) Statements of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to the Financial Statements.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (Embedded within the Inline XBRL document and included in Exhibit).

* Filed
herewith.

** Certain exhibits and schedules have been omitted and the Company agrees to furnish supplementary to the Securities and Exchange Commission a
copy of any omitted exhibits upon request.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419001167/tv509486_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419001167/tv509486_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419001167/tv509486_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419001167/tv509486_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419013366/tv510774_ex3-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419013366/tv510774_ex3-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000110465919064281/tm1922973d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000110465919064281/tm1922973d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000110465920067638/tm2021383d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000110465920067638/tm2021383d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000110465921100492/tm2124153d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000110465921100492/tm2124153d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419013366/tv510774_ex3-5.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1468929/000114420419013366/tv510774_ex3-5.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

 NEXGEL, INC.
   
Date: August 16, 2021 By: /s/ Adam Levy
 Name: Adam Levy
 Title: Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
 By: /s/ Adam E. Drapczuk III
 Name: Adam E. Drapczuk III
 Title: Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE SENIOR SECURED
PROMISSORY NOTE, WARRANTS, AND SECURITIES

PURCHASE AGREEMENT DATED MARCH 11, 2021

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT to the Note (as defined below), Warrants (as defined below), and SPA (as defined below)
(the “Amendment”) is entered into on August 13, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Nexgel, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”), and Auctus Fund, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Holder”) (each the Company and the Holder a
“Party” and collectively the “Parties”).

BACKGROUND

A. The Company and Holder are the parties to that certain securities purchase agreement (the “SPA”) dated March 11,
2011, pursuant to which the Company issued to Holder a senior secured promissory note on even date in the original principal amount
of $1,500,000.00 (as amended from time to time, the “Note”), the Warrants (as defined in the SPA) (the “Warrants”), the Registration
Rights Agreement (as defined in the SPA) (the “Registration Rights Agreement”) and the Security Agreement (as defined in the SPA)
(the “Security Agreement”); and

B.  The Company is contemplating an additional private placement financing of no less than $1,500,000 and no more than
$2,500,000 (the “August Financing”), and the Holder has agreed to enter into the lock-up agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Lock-Up Agreement”) in connection with the Company’s consummation of the August Financing; and

C. The Parties desire to amend the Note, Warrants, and SPA as set forth expressly
below.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the execution and delivery of the Amendment and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. The Company’s obligations under Section 4(d) of the SPA shall terminate with no further action required by the
Company or the Holder on the date that the Company consummates an Uplist Offering (as defined in the SPA) (the “Uplist Offering”).

2. The Company’s obligations under Section 4(p) of the SPA shall terminate with no further action required by the
Company or the Holder on the Post Lock-Up Termination Date (as defined in this Amendment), so long as the Company’s common
stock is listed for trading on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE American, or any other national
securities exchange on the Post Lock-Up Termination Date. The “Post Lock-Up Termination Date” shall mean the date that is one
hundred and twenty (120) calendar days after the date that the Holder is no longer subject to any restrictions under the Lock-Up
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, any adjustments that have occurred under Section 4(p) of the SPA prior to the termination of
Section 4(p) of the SPA shall remain in full force and effect at all times, including after the Company’s obligations under Section 4(p)
of the SPA have terminated.

3. Section 4(g) of the SPA shall be replaced in its entirety with the following:

“(g)  Listing. The Company will, beginning on October 31, 2021 and continuing so long as the Buyer owns
any of the Securities, maintain the listing and trading of its Common Stock on a Principal Market or any equivalent replacement
exchange or electronic quotation system (including but not limited to the Pink Sheets electronic quotation system) and will comply in
all respects with the Company’s reporting, filing and other obligations under the bylaws or rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority (“FINRA”) and such exchanges, as applicable. The Company shall promptly provide to the Buyer copies of any notices it
receives from the Principal Market and any other exchanges or electronic quotation systems on which the Common Stock is then
traded regarding the continued eligibility of the Common Stock for listing on such exchanges and quotation systems.”

4. Section 3.18 of the Note shall be replaced in its entirety with the following:

“3.18    Delisting, Suspension, or Quotation of Trading of Common Stock. If, at any time on or
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after October 31, 2021, the Borrower’s Common Stock (i) is suspended from trading, (ii) halted from trading, and/or (iii) fails to be
quoted or listed (as applicable) on the OTCQB, OTCQX, any tier of the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange, or
the NYSE American.”

5. Section 3.19 of the Note shall be replaced in its entirety with the following:

“3.19   Failure to File Form 211 or Registration Statement .  The Borrower fails to (i) have caused a Form 211
to be filed with FINRA (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) that complies in all material respects with the requirements of FINRA
within fifteen (15) calendar days following the Issue Date, (ii) file a registration statement covering the Holder’s resale at prevailing
market prices (and not fixed prices) of all of the Common Stock (the “Registration Statement”) underlying the Note and Warrants
within thirty (30) calendar days following the Issue Date, (ii) cause the Registration Statement to become effective on or before
October 31, 2021, (iii) cause the Registration Statement to remain effective until the Note is extinguished in its entirety and the
Warrants are exercised in the entirety, (iv) comply with the provisions of the Registration Rights Agreement in all material respects, or
(v) immediately amend the Registration Statement or file a new Registration Statement (and cause such Registration Statement to
become effective as soon as possible) if there are no longer sufficient shares registered under the initial Registration Statement for the
Holder’s resale at prevailing market prices (and not fixed prices) of all of the Common Stock underlying the Note and Warrants.”

6. The Company’s obligations under Sections 1.6(e) and 4.14 of the Note shall terminate with no further action
required by the Company or the Holder on the Post Lock-Up Termination Date, so long as the Company’s common stock is listed for
trading on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE American, or any other national securities
exchange on the Post Lock-Up Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, any adjustments that have occurred under Sections
1.6(e) and/or 4.14 of the Note prior to the termination of Sections 1.6(e) and/or 4.14 of the Note shall remain in full force and effect at
all times, including after the Company’s obligations under Sections 1.6(e) and/or 4.14 of the Note have terminated.

7. The Company’s obligations under Section 2(b) of the Warrants shall terminate with no further action required
by the Company or the Holder on the Post Lock-Up Termination Date, so long as the Company’s common stock is listed for trading
on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE American, or any other national securities exchange on the
Post Lock-Up Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, any adjustments that have occurred under Section 2(b) of the Warrants
prior to the termination of Section 2(b) of the Warrants shall remain in full force and effect at all times, including after the Company’s
obligations under Section 2(b) of the Warrants have terminated.

8. The last sentence of Section 1 of the Security Agreement shall be replaced in its entirety with the following
sentence:

““If, on or prior to October 31, 2021, (i) an Event of Default (as defined in this Agreement) has not occurred and (ii) the
Borrower has complied in all material respects with the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement (as defined in the Securities
Purchase Agreement), and (iii) the Common Stock (as defined in the Securities Purchase Agreement) is quoted or listed for trading on
the OTCQB Marketplace, OTCQX, any tier of the NASDAQ Stock Market, the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE American,
then the security interest created in favor of the Secured Party pursuant to this Agreement shall terminate.”

9. The Holder hereby agrees and acknowledges that the Company has complied in all material respects with respect
to the Holder’s rights contained in Section 4(d) of the Purchase Agreement (Right of Participation and First Refusal) with respect to
the August Financing and the Buyer waives all such rights except to the extent it elects to participate in the August Financing.

10. The Holder hereby agrees to a one-time waiver of any Event of Default (as defined in the Note) that may exist
under Sections 3.18 or 3.19 of the Note prior to the Effective Date. The Company and the Holder hereby agree and acknowledge that
such waiver in no way impacts the rights and preferences of the Holder under the Transaction Documents for any Event of Default
which may occur on or after the Effective Date, including but not limited to under
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Sections 3.18 or 3.19 of the Note.

11. This Amendment shall be deemed part of, but shall take precedence over and supersede any provisions to the
contrary contained in the Note, Warrants, Registration Right Agreement, Security Agreement and SPA (in each case, as applicable).
Except as specifically modified hereby, all of the provisions of the Note, Warrants, Registration Rights Agreement, Security
Agreement and SPA which are not in conflict with the terms of this Amendment, shall remain in full force and effect.

[Signature page to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date first above written.

Nexgel, Inc. Auctus Fund, LLC

By: /s/ Adam Levy By: /s/ Lou Posner
Name: Adam Levy Name: Lou Posner
Title: Chief Executive Officer Title: Managing Director



Exhibit A

Common Stock Lock-Up Agreement

Date: ____________, 2021

Maxim Group LLC
405 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 10174

Ladies and Gentlemen:

As an inducement to Maxim Group LLC (the “Underwriter”), to execute an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting
Agreement”), in its capacity as Underwriter, providing for a public offering (the “Offering”) of common stock, par value $0.001 per
share (the “Common Stock”), or other securities, of NexGel, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor (by merger or otherwise)
thereto (the “Company”), the undersigned hereby agrees that without, in each case, the prior written consent of the Underwriter during
the period specified in the second succeeding paragraph (the “Lock-Up Period”), the undersigned will not: (1) offer, pledge, announce
the intention to sell, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any
option, right or warrant to purchase, make any short sale or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of
Common Stock or any securities convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable for or that represent the right to receive Common Stock
(including without limitation, Common Stock which may be deemed to be beneficially owned by the undersigned in accordance with
the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and securities which may be issued upon
exercise of a stock option or warrant) whether now owned or hereafter acquired (the “Undersigned’s Securities”); (2) enter into any
swap or other agreement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Undersigned’s
Securities, whether any such transaction described in clause (1) or (2) above is to be settled by delivery of Common Stock or such
other securities, in cash or otherwise; (3) make any demand for or exercise any right with respect to, the registration of any Common
Stock or any security convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock; or (4) publicly disclose the intention to do
any of the foregoing.

The undersigned agrees that the foregoing restrictions preclude the undersigned from engaging in any hedging or other
transaction which is designed to or which reasonably could be expected to lead to or result in a sale or disposition of the Undersigned’s
Securities even if such securities would be disposed of by someone other than the undersigned. Such prohibited hedging or other
transactions would include without limitation any short sale or any purchase, sale or grant of any right (including without limitation
any put or call option) with respect to any of the Undersigned’s Securities or with respect to any security that includes, relates to or
derives any significant part of its value from such securities.

The Lock-Up Period will commence on the date of this Lock-Up Agreement and continue and include the dates as follows: (i)
the date sixty (60) days after the date of the final prospectus supplement used to sell the Common Stock (or other securities) in the
Offering pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement (the “Effective Date”) with respect to eighty percent (80%) of the Undersigned’s
Securities and (ii) the date one hundred twenty (120) days after the Effective Date with respect to sixty-five percent (65%) of the
Undersigned’s Securities (collectively, the “ Lock-Up Thresholds”); provided; however; the undersigned may exceed the Lock-Up
Thresholds on any trading days during which Common Stock is sold in the market at a per share price which equals or exceeds two (2)
times in the per share price of the Common Stock initially sold pursuant to the Offering so long as the number of the Undersigned’s
Securities sold during such trading day do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total number of shares of the Common Stock traded in
the market during such trading day.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the undersigned may transfer the Undersigned’s Securities (i) as a bona fide gift or gifts, (ii) to
any trust for the direct or indirect benefit of the undersigned or the immediate family of the undersigned, (iii) if the undersigned is a
corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or other business entity (1) to another corporation, partnership, limited
liability company, trust or other business entity that is a direct or indirect affiliate (as defined in Rule 405 promulgated under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended) of the undersigned or (2) as distributions of shares of Common Stock or any security convertible
into or exercisable for Common Stock to limited partners, limited liability company members or stockholders of the undersigned, (iv)
if the undersigned is a trust, transfers to the beneficiary of such trust, (v) by testate succession or intestate succession or (vi) pursuant to
the Underwriting Agreement; provided, in the case of clauses (i) through (v), that (x) such transfer shall not involve a disposition for
value, (y) the transferee agrees in writing with the Underwriter to be bound by the terms of this Lock-Up Agreement and (z) no filing
by any party under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), shall be required or shall
be made voluntarily in connection with such transfer. For purposes of this Lock-Up Agreement, “immediate family” shall mean any
relationship by blood, marriage or adoption, nor more remote than first cousin.

In addition, the foregoing restrictions shall not apply to (i) the exercise of stock options granted pursuant to the Company’s
equity incentive plans; provided that such restrictions shall apply to any of the Undersigned’s Securities issued upon such exercise, or
(ii) the establishment of any contract, instruction or plan (a “Plan”) that satisfies all of the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(i)(B)
under the Exchange Act; provided that no sales of the Undersigned’s Securities shall be made pursuant to such a Plan prior to the
expiration of the Lock-Up Period, and such a Plan may only be established if no public announcement of the establishment or existence
thereof and no filing with the SEC or other regulatory authority in respect thereof or transactions thereunder or contemplated thereby,
by the undersigned, the Company or any other person, shall be required, and no such announcement or filing is made voluntarily by the
undersigned, the Company or any other person, prior to the expiration of the Lock-Up Period.

In furtherance of the foregoing, the Company and its transfer agent and registrar are hereby authorized to decline to make any
transfer of shares of Common Stock if such transfer would constitute a violation or breach of this Lock-Up Agreement.

The undersigned hereby represents and warrants that the undersigned has full power and authority to enter into this Lock-Up
Agreement and that upon request, the undersigned will execute any additional documents necessary to ensure the validity or
enforcement of this Lock-Up Agreement. All authority herein conferred or agreed to be conferred and any obligations of the
undersigned shall be binding upon the successors, assigns, heirs or personal representatives of the undersigned.

The undersigned understands that the undersigned shall be released from all obligations under this Lock-Up Agreement if
(i) the Company notifies the Underwriter that it does not intend to proceed with the Offering, (ii) the Underwriting Agreement does not
become effective, or if the Underwriting Agreement (other than the provisions thereof which survive termination) shall terminate or be
terminated prior to payment for and delivery of the Common Stock (or other securities) to be sold thereunder or (iii) the Offering is not
completed by December 31, 2021.

The undersigned understands that the Underwriter is entering into the Underwriting Agreement and proceeding with the
Offering in reliance upon this Lock-Up Agreement.

This Lock-Up Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

[The remainder of this page has intentionally been left blank ]



Very truly yours,

Printed Name of Holder

Signature

Printed Name and Title of Person Signing
(if signing as custodian, trustee or on behalf of

an entity)

[Signature Page to Lock-Up Agreement]



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(A) AND 15d-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Adam Levy, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NexGel, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 16, 2021 By: /s/ Adam Levy
  Adam Levy
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(A) AND 15d-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Adam E. Drapczuk III, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NexGel, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 16, 2021 By: /s/ Adam E. Drapczuk III
  Adam E. Drapczuk III
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)

u



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350) and accompanies the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (the “Form 10-Q”) for the six months ended June 30, 2021, of NexGel, Inc. (the “Company”). I, Adam Levy, the Chief Executive
Officer and Principal Executive Officer of the Company, certify that, based on my knowledge:

(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
as of and for the periods covered in this report.

Date: Auguste 16, 2021 By: /s/ Adam Levy
 Name: Adam Levy
 Title: Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and, accordingly, is not being filed as
part of the Form 10-Q for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of
the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

This certification is furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350) and accompanies the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (the “Form 10-Q”) for the six months ended June 30, 2021 of NexGel, Inc. (the “Company”). I, Adam E. Drapczuk III, the Chief
Financial Officer and Principal Financial Officer of the Company, certify that, based on my knowledge:

(1) The Form 10-Q fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
as of and for the periods covered in this report.

Date: August 16, 2021 By: /s/  Adam E. Drapczuk III
 Name: Adam E. Drapczuk III
 Title: Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code) and, accordingly, is not being filed as
part of the Form 10-Q for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of
the Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.


